## The Impact of Border Externalization and Militarization in the Middle East

Results from Phase 1 of the project

Border Externalization and Militarization: A Global Analysis

**JULY 2024** 



W	ri	tteı	n h	v.
vv	111	しししょ		· v .

Musa Kurt

with contributions from Teresa Cappiali, Eunice Ndonga, and Samanta Covic

For The American Friends Service Committee (AFSC)

Date: July 10, 2024

This report contains the results from Phase 1 of the Project Border Externalization and Militarization: A Global Analysis. The research was commissioned by the AFSC International Programs Just Migration Thematic Hub/ Lead, and highlights the results of research that was conducted by AFSC to critically examine the global impact of border externalization and militarization on people on the move, border, transit and impacted communities.

## Contents

Contents	3
Migration Flows and Trends	4
Causes of Migration	4
Migration Pathways	6
Risk and Challenges	7
States' Role	8
The Case of Turkey	10
The Case of Lebanon	11
The Case of Jordan	12
The Role of Non-State Actors and Community-Based Organizations	13
Challenges and opportunities	15
Concluding Remarks	16
Endnotes	17

## Migration Flows and Trends

## **CAUSES OF MIGRATION**

The Middle East is a region of complexities that has been significantly impacted by migration dynamics. These dynamics have been shaped by a range of factors, including ongoing civil wars and regional conflicts, foreign military interventions, economic disparities, increasing environmental degradation, and demographic shifts. Over the past two decades, the region has experienced unprecedented levels of forced displacement and irregular migration.

Migratory movements in the Middle East are everyday practices. The region has the highest density of forced displaced people in the world. Based on UNCHR 2024 data, 15.8 million individuals, including stateless persons, have been displaced in the Middle East and North Africa, accounting for 12% of global displaced people<sup>1</sup>. 2.3 million out of 15.8 million are seeking refugee outside the region in almost 131 countries around the world<sup>2</sup>.

More than a decade after the outbreak of the crisis, Syria continues to be the world's largest refugee crisis, with over 12 million forcibly displaced persons, including 7.2 million internally displaced since 2011<sup>3</sup>. Turkey, Jordan and Lebanon have been the most affected by the refugee crisis in the region, hosting over 5.3 million Syrian refugees<sup>4</sup>.

- Turkey remains the world's largest refugee-hosting country in the world, with over 4.6 million regular migrants<sup>5</sup>, including 3.1 million registered Syrian refugees<sup>6</sup>.
- Jordan follows with over 730,000 registered refugees<sup>7</sup>.
- Lebanon has the highest number of refugees per capita in the world, with an estimated 1.5 million refugees according to the government<sup>8</sup>.

Over two decades ago, the US invasion of Iraq has created widespread violence, internal displacement, and the emergence of insurgent groups that have forced millions of Iraqis to be internally and externally displaced in neighboring countries. The sectarian violence worsened the situation, leading to increased internal displacement and refugee flows. As of 2024, Iraq has an internally displaced population of 1.14 million people and hosts over 300,000 refugees and asylum-seekers in the region<sup>9</sup>. Of these, more than 90% are Syrians, totaling around 270,000 individuals.

Since 2015, millions of Yemenis have been displaced due to war and conflict involving proxy groups, making this the world's most severe humanitarian crisis. According to UNHCR, more than 4.3 million people have been displaced internally and 23 million people require humanitarian assistance, making it as the fourth largest population of internally displaced persons (IDPs) in the world due to conflict<sup>10</sup>.

The displacement of millions of Palestinian refugees in the occupied territories are not included in statistics provided by UNHCR and IOM. According to UNRWA, the UN Relief and Work Agency for Palestinian Refugees, there are approximately 6 million Palestinian refugees displaced both within and outside of Palestine due to ongoing Israeli occupation of Palestinian territories. About 1.5 million registered Palestinian refugees reside in 58 recognized Palestinian refugee camps in Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, Gaza and the West Bank, including eastern Jerusalem<sup>11</sup>. Since October 2023, more than 31 thousand people have been killed and around 75 thousand have been wounded in Gaza by the Israeli occupation forces<sup>12</sup>.

Moreover, the increasing environmental degradation in the region is another pressing-issue on the displacement of people, compounded with existing political and socio-economic instabilities. Water scarcity, drought, food insecurity and extreme weather events in the region are making life even more difficult and pushing more people onto existing migration routes. According to Internal Displacement Monitoring Center (IDMC), more than 230 thousand people were internally displaced by disasters in the MENA region in 2021, mostly due to climate-related disasters<sup>13</sup>. The IOM in Iraq documented the displacement of over 130 thousand people in September 2023 due to adverse effects of climate change, particularly in southern parts of the country<sup>14</sup>. Environmental challenges and poor governance in Yemen, Syria and Lebanon could exacerbate vulnerability and spark conflict over resources, leading to further displacement of people.

#### **Foreign Military Interventions**

The current influx of refugees from the Levant can largely be attributed to the repercussions of the 2003 invasion of Iraq and the ensuing civil war, which resulted in approximately 6 million refugees and a similar number of internally displaced persons

<sup>15</sup>. This ethnic and sectarian change entailed tensions across the region, fueling extremist factions and placing immense strain on the infrastructure of neighboring states like Jordan and Syria. Consequently, international organizations have become integral to the daily governance of these displaced populations.

These regional dynamics also shaped the impact of the Arab Spring on Syria, leading to an unprecedented refugee crisis, with over 6 million Syrians fleeing the country and another 10 million internally displaced<sup>16</sup>. While the focus often remains on the Syrian crisis, other parallel catastrophes, such as the ongoing conflict in Yemen, have also generated significant displacement.<sup>17</sup> Despite obstacles like naval blockades, internal displacement in Yemen remains staggering. The implications of these refugee populations extend beyond regional security.

#### **Ongoing Civil Wars and Regional Conflicts**

From 2005 to 2015, the Middle East witnessed a significant surge in the number of displaced migrants, increasing fourfold from approximately 5 million to around 23 million<sup>18</sup>. This

substantial rise can largely be attributed to ongoing conflicts in Syria, Iraq, and Yemen during this period. $^{20}$   $^{19}$ 

The civil conflict in Syria, which has been the primary cause of human displacement in the Middle East for the past decade, has fundamentally altered the region and forced millions of people to flee their homes without the possibility of a safe return. <sup>20</sup>

The underlying circumstances such as repression, regime violence, and sectarian and religious divisions that initially drove people to flee remain largely unchanged. Since 2011, this situation has fueled regional insecurity and influenced domestic politics in various host countries, including Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, and Turkey<sup>21</sup>.

#### **Economic Disparities**

Wars in the Middle East have triggered a devastating domino effect. Not only did these conflicts cause immense human suffering and destroy infrastructure, but they also crippled economies. Countries like Iraq, Syria, Libya, and Yemen plummet into recession, inflation soars, and governments struggle financially<sup>22</sup>. The damage is not contained within borders. Neighboring nations like Lebanon, Jordan and Turkey experience spillover effects – increased refugees, a shaky security situation, and a decline in social trust<sup>23</sup>. This weakens institutions and makes it harder for these countries to enact crucial economic reforms. The impact even reaches beyond the region, affecting Europe and other parts of the world. <sup>24</sup>

#### **Environmental Degradation**

In the upcoming decades, the impacts of climate change will exacerbate the existing causes that drive individuals to flee their home regions or countries due to conflicts. Factors such as droughts, rising sea levels, food insecurity resulting from crop failures, and desertification will further contribute to displacement.<sup>25</sup>

## **MIGRATION PATHWAYS**

Since the onset of the conflict in Syria in 2011, the Eastern Mediterranean route, which migrants have historically used to traverse from Turkey to the European Union, has experienced increasing congestion. Additionally, Syrian migration routes have begun to intersect with the easternmost parts of an East African migratory route under the Mediterranean Sea<sup>26</sup>.

In 2020, arrivals through the Eastern Mediterranean route saw a nearly 98% decrease compared to 2015, but there was an increase in numbers in 2021 and 2022. The agreement with Turkey played a key role in reducing the loss of lives at sea and combating migrant smugglers<sup>27</sup>.

The Eastern Mediterranean route, considered the second most utilized route by smugglers, has undergone significant evolution over time. This route has seen a growing significance in arrivals by sea from Turkey to the shores of Italy, Greece, and Cyprus, compared to land border crossings between Turkey and neighboring EU countries like Greece and Bulgaria<sup>28</sup>.

Primarily, asylum seekers from Syria and Palestine have utilized the Eastern Mediterranean Sea route. Migration routes into Europe continually shift as smugglers adapt their tactics to evade enforcement and border patrols<sup>29</sup>. Their methods vary depending on regional factors, the effectiveness of national authorities' preventive measures, and the needs of migrants who pay for their services<sup>30</sup>.

Initially, irregular migrant departures from Turkey to the EU via the Mediterranean were predominantly directed towards the Greek islands in the Aegean Sea. This pattern gradually changed, with irregular migrant flows shifting towards the Italian Ionian shores. Departure locations varied, but many migrants departed from the vicinity of the Turkish port of Mersin<sup>31</sup>.

Turkey has become a primary destination for refugees attempting to cross into Europe. Each year, hundreds of thousands of migrants flee civil conflict or economic hardship in their home countries, hoping to reach Europe<sup>32</sup>. Some manage to undertake the perilous journey over land or sea with the assistance of smugglers, who often abandon them, particularly during sea crossings, after receiving significant sums of money from each migrant<sup>33</sup>. Others are intercepted by Turkish security forces before they can cross into Europe<sup>34</sup>.

## **RISK AND CHALLENGES**

In the aftermath of conflicts, although the intensity of warfare has somewhat diminished, the pervasive destruction of housing and infrastructure, economic downturns, and persistent threat of violence continue to foster a profound sense of despair among populations, propelling them towards seizing any available opportunity, however perilous, to seek refuge elsewhere.

This trend is particularly pronounced in Syria, where poverty rates have soared to alarming levels, reaching 90 percent<sup>35</sup>. Lebanon faces a confluence of economic collapse and heightened instability, raising apprehensions about a potential surge in emigration<sup>36</sup>. Hosting 1.5 million Syrian refugees' further strains Lebanon's resources and adds to the pool of individuals contemplating onward migration<sup>37</sup>.

Turkey, a pivotal player in the region for hosting Syrian refugees, may encounter increased attempts by migrants to transit through its territory enroute to Europe. Turkey's past use of migration as a diplomatic lever underscores the importance of its policies, especially amidst its ongoing financial challenges<sup>38</sup>.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the specter of climate change are global phenomena, influencing migration patterns in the region. COVID-19 has complicated cross-border

movement and exacerbated economic pressures, while climate change intensifies environmental crises like prolonged droughts and water scarcity, already prompting internal migration and likely to fuel further displacement<sup>39</sup>.

Years of conflict, political instability, economic downturns, unemployment, and systemic corruption have convinced a significant portion of the youth that their prospects lie beyond their home communities and even their national borders. Some will seek relocation within the region, while others will resort to perilous journeys, often at great cost, in pursuit of refuge in Europe or elsewhere<sup>40</sup>.

Should the prevailing sense of hopelessness persist or worsen in 2022, the region faces heightened risks of migration crises. Governments must brace for increased migration flows while concurrently striving to foster stability and opportunity for their young populations<sup>41</sup>.

## States' Role

The Middle East has always been a significant part of a larger global migration pattern, with countries in the region often representing points of origin, transit and destination. However, the phenomenon of migration has become one of the defining features of the Middle East with the displacement of millions of people following the civil conflict in Syria in 2011 in what has been described by the UNHCR as the "largest refugee crisis in the world". In response, the neighboring countries, such as Turkey, Jordan and Lebanon, have implemented various legal, political and socio-economic policies to manage the increasing refugee crisis.

Initially, Turkey, Jordan and Lebanon followed an open-door policy and humanitarian approach, permitting Syrian refugees to cross their borders, with the assumption that the crisis would be temporary<sup>42</sup>. However, as Syria's war dragged on and the number of refugees surged, these countries adapted their policies to address the growing challenges in the long term. They have shifted from an open door-policy and humanitarian approach to a more restrictive policy. This shift has involved closing borders to prevent new arrivals and institutionalizing their response through more structured and sometimes restrictive policies.

Moreover, some countries in the MENA, such as Turkey, Saudi Arabia, Israel, Tunisia and Morocco have constructed sophisticated fences along their border in response the rise of mass migrations and non-state actors have put unprecedented pressure on the existing nation-state borders<sup>43</sup>.

As countries in the region grapple with their domestic political interests, economic crisis and foreign policy objectives, they have adopted different approaches to refugee governance, influenced by their unique social and political contexts and interactions with regional and global actors<sup>44</sup>.

The refugee crisis in the Middle East went beyond the borders of the region and turned into a global refugee crisis. In 2015, with over 1.5 million refugees crossing dangerous migration routes from both the Middle East and Africa and reaching European borders,

Europe experienced the largest refugee crisis since the Second World War. Thus, migration issues have become central between the EU and the countries in the region with the EU outsourcing and strengthening its border controls to other countries.

The European Union's border control regime was significantly reshaped by the migration crisis, particularly after 2015. The crisis highlighted the difficulties presented by irregular migration through the Mediterranean and Balkans, resulting in a more coordinated EU approach to external border management. This involved increased collaboration with third countries to prevent irregular migration and enhance border control effectiveness. Key developments included the strengthening of Frontex, the EU's external border agency, and the adoption of a more integrated approach to border management. This approach emphasizes shared responsibility among EU Member States and closer operational ties with neighboring third countries. The aim of these changes is to enhance the EU's capacity to respond to migration pressures while maintaining the integrity of the Schengen area and upholding EU norms and policies. This period represented a significant development in the EU's approach to externalizing borders, striking a balance between the necessity for effective border control and the commitment to international and EU legal standards.

As part of its border externalization policy, the EU signed a refugee deal with Turkey in March 2016 in order to address the unprecedented influx of refugees and migrants into the EU, particularly through the Eastern Mediterranean and Western Balkan routes. The deal aimed to prevent and control the irregular migration to the EU and combat human trafficking. In return, Turkey would get financial aid to manage and improve the living conditions of Syrian refugees in the country.

In the framework of so-called 'stabilization' policies, the European Union (EU) is supporting the Lebanese security forces in their border management tasks, both along the border with Syria and in Lebanese territorial waters<sup>45</sup>. In addition, EU countries are also in cooperation with Lebanon against human trafficking. However, there are growing concerns that the Lebanese authorities, with the support of the EU and European states, have repeatedly violated human rights. This is in the context of the increasing externalization of European borders in Lebanon<sup>46</sup>.

As part of Global Compact on Refugees, which was signed in 2018 and includes some countries from the Middle East and Africa, the EU and Jordan signed an agreement called "the Jordan Compact", aiming to prevent onward (potentially to Europe) refugee movements by providing financial aid to Jordanian government and investing in Jordanian labor market creating work opportunities for Syrian refugees<sup>47</sup>.

Thus, how states respond to the refugee crisis has become both complex and contested as the crisis crossed the borders of nation states involving the EU and other key actors such the UN.

Although there are many countries experiencing refugee crises in the Middle East, such as Iraq, Yemen and Palestine; **Turkey**, **Lebanon and Jordan will be used as examples to** illustrate regional dynamics as the most exposed to refugee crisis and host the largest number of refugees.

#### THE CASE OF TURKEY

Turkey has become one of the largest hosts of refugees globally, giving shelter to over 3.6 million registered refugees mainly from Syria<sup>48</sup>. The country's migration policy has undergone significant changes over the years. Initially, Turkey had an open-door policy for Syrian refugees, providing temporary protection that did not grant full refugee status but ensured some level of safety and basic services. Under the management of the Presidency of Migration Management (PMM), Turkey has established 'Temporary Accommodation Centers' across the border towns and permitted Syrians to reside in different cities to promote integration and economic contribution.

The Temporary Protection (TP) regime ensures that beneficiaries of temporary protection have access to various rights, services, and assistance. These include health care, education, social assistance, psychological support, and the labor market.

However, the country has encountered challenges in providing employment opportunities to refugees, resulting in many working in the informal economy. The EU-Turkey agreements of 2015 and 2016 signified a significant change, as Turkey committed to controlling the flow of migration towards Europe in exchange for financial aid and political concessions from the EU<sup>49</sup>. This relationship has been intricate, with both sides accusing each other of failing to meet the agreement's terms, but it has significantly influenced Turkey's migration policy.

## Policy Responses and EU-Turkey Refugee Agreement

*Temporary Protection Regime*: Turkey introduced a Temporary Protection Regime to provide legal status to Syrian refugees, offering them access to basic services such as health and education while ensuring their non-refoulement.

*Integration Efforts*: Efforts were made to integrate Syrian refugees into Turkish society through language courses, vocational training, and employment opportunities. This was aimed at facilitating self-reliance among the refugee population and mitigating the social and economic impacts of displacement.

EU-Turkey Refugee Deal: In March 2016, Turkey and the EU reached an agreement aimed at stopping the flow of refugees to Europe in exchange for financial aid, visa liberalization for Turkish citizens, and revitalized EU accession talks. The deal included the return of irregular migrants from Greece to Turkey and the resettlement of Syrian refugees from Turkey to the EU on a one-for-one basis.

Border Security Measures and Military Interventions: Turkey strengthened its border security to prevent irregular migration and combat 'cross-border terrorism', including constructing wall and fences along parts of its border with Syria. Turkey has also launched several military operations into Syria, resulting in controlling the lands across the border together with Syrian opposition groups.

*International Cooperation and Burden-Sharing*: Turkey advocated for a more equitable sharing of responsibilities and resources in addressing the refugee crisis, calling for increased international support and cooperation.

Local Integration and Social Cohesion: Policies were developed to promote social cohesion between Turkish host communities and Syrian refugees, addressing challenges such as competition for resources, cultural differences, and xenophobia.

Sustainable Solutions: Turkey has been involved in diplomatic efforts aimed at finding a sustainable solution to the Syrian conflict, recognizing that the resolution of the crisis is key to addressing the root causes of displacement. Turkey has announced several times its willingness to normalize its relations with the Syrian regime to reach political solutions and thus solve the migration crisis<sup>50</sup>.

However, there are grooving concerns by human rights organizations over the violation of refugee rights in the country, calling the EU to recognize Turkey as 'unsafe' for asylum seekers. Human Rights Watch reports on the arrest, detention and the increased number of deportations by the Turkish authorities<sup>51</sup>.

## THE CASE OF LEBANON

Given its geographical proximity to Syria, Lebanon currently hosts the highest number of displaced persons per capita in the world, one-fifth is Syrian refugee, placing an unprecedented strain on its socio-economic infrastructure and exacerbating existing political and sectarian tensions<sup>52</sup>. According to the UNCHR, 9 out of 10 Syrian refugees need humanitarian support to meet their basic needs, while over 50 percent of the whole population live under poverty line<sup>53</sup>.

*Regulative-Restrictive Shift:* In late 2014, Lebanon shifted towards more regulative governance by enacting stricter border management and reception policies to control the flow of Syrian refugees. The aim of this shift was to address demographic concerns and the lack of a national strategy to cope with the refugee crisis<sup>54</sup>.

Lack of Integration Policies: Lebanon has refrained from creating policies focused on refugee protection and integration, largely due to capacity constraints, the country's delicate sectarian balance, and lessons learned from past experiences with Palestinian refugees<sup>55</sup>.

International Negotiations for Support: The Lebanese government has searched and demanded for increased international financial support to tackle the refugee crisis, stressing the need to move from purely humanitarian assistance to development assistance that benefits both refugees and vulnerable Lebanese communities experiencing deep socioeconomic crisis.

Lebanon Crisis Response Plan (LCRP): The LCRP was developed collaboratively with the UN and other partners to address humanitarian needs and reinforce Lebanon's economic, social, and institutional stability. It aimed to assist not only Syrian refugees but also vulnerable

Lebanese and Palestinian populations, reflecting a more comprehensive approach to the crisis<sup>56</sup>.

*Socio-economic Integration:* The increasing concerns about the socio-economic integration of refugees have gradually portrayed refugees as an economic burden over the resources which could exacerbate existing tensions between refugees and host communities.

Sectarian Balance and National Identity: The influx of refugees into Lebanon has raised concerns about potentially altering the country's sectarian balance, a crucial aspect of Lebanon's identity and politics<sup>57</sup>. While Shi's parties, such as Hezbollah, has maintained the principle of openness policy and has avoided any sectarian bias in addressing the refugee issue, Christian-based political parties have raised concerns over the refugee policy and called for stricter border policy, describing refuges as a threat to national identity<sup>58</sup>.

Lebanon's migration governance cannot be separated from the EU's border externalization policy. The EU's support to border enforcement in Lebanon not only strengthens Lebanese border control, but also contributes to the externalization of European borders, shifting the burden and consequences of migration control to neighboring countries like Lebanon, often at the expense of human rights and international law obligations<sup>59</sup>.

## THE CASE OF JORDAN

Historically, Jordan has been a refugee heaven in the Middle East since the Palestinian exodus of 1948. In addition to Palestinians, Jordan has been hosting about 730 thousand migrants from Iraq, Yemen Sudan and Somalia<sup>60</sup>. Migrants, particularly Palestinians have always played a crucial role in influencing the country's political and socio-economic landscape. In the aftermath of the civil war in Syria, Jordan currently hosts more than 650 thousand Syrian refugees as of September 2023<sup>61</sup>.

Initially, Jordan's policy was shaped by its social ties with the Syrian community, which allowed for a more flexible approach to receiving and protecting refugees. However, like other host countries, Jordan has shifted its emergency-based humanitarian approach to a more regulative and restrictive border policy as the war has dragged on. Several factors influenced this shift, including Jordan's economic burden of refugee influx, international development concerns, and memories and political legacies of past experiences with Palestinian and Iraqi refugees<sup>62</sup>. Security-based structured and restrictive border policy has extended refugee camps and urban areas, raising the concerns over human rights in refugee protection<sup>63</sup>.

Coordinated by UNCHR and in collaboration with international and local NGOs, and community-based organization, Jordan has initiated a Jordan Response Plan (JRP) to address the immediate humanitarian needs of Syrian refugees while also focusing on the longer-term developmental goals of the country<sup>64</sup>.

The Jordan Response Plan (JRP) for the Syrian crisis is an example of a unified strategy that combines refugee assistance with resilience-building measures. The plan aims to strengthen the resilience of national systems and institutions, meet the urgent needs of both refugees and Jordanians affected by the crisis, and improve job and livelihood opportunities<sup>65</sup>. The statement shows that Jordan is committed to integrating the management of the refugee crisis into its broader development agenda, in line with its national development strategies.

# The Role of Non-State Actors and Community-Based Organizations

H In the Middle East, non-state actors play a critical role in the migration landscape due to the complex political, social, and economic environments. These actors include a wide range of organizations, such as international NGOs, local civil society groups, and informal networks that often step in to fill the gaps left by state institutions. Their roles can vary from providing humanitarian aid and legal assistance to migrants and refugees, to advocacy and policy influencing at national and regional levels. In politicized contexts in the Middle East, given the region's history of conflicts, political instability, and displacement, non-state actors often face unique challenges in relation to criminalization of migrants. They operate in environments where access to affected populations can be restricted due to security concerns, bureaucratic hurdles, or political sensitivities. Moreover, these actors have to navigate the geopolitics of the region, where their actions can sometimes be perceived as politically motivated, impacting their ability to operate effectively.

The externalization policies and security concerns of the nation-states in the region under the pretext of national security and combating irregular migration are often resulted in the criminalization of migrants and organizations working on migration, undermining of basic human rights, violate good governance, create immobility and contribute to the crisis of the global refugee regime, which fails to provide protection<sup>66</sup>.

This criminalization not only undermines the humanitarian efforts of these organizations but also further marginalizes vulnerable migrant and refugee populations, limiting their access to essential services and protection.

The situation is exacerbated by the geopolitical dynamics of the region, where conflict and instability complicate migration patterns and the work of civil society and community-based organizations. The net effect is a shrinking civic space and an erosion of rights for both the organizations and the individuals they seek to assist, highlighting a worrying trend in the governance of migration and the protection of human rights in the region.

Human rights organizations and associations raised concerns over the EU-Turkey Refugee Deal: Amnesty International has called the EU several times to put an immediate stop to its plans to send asylum seekers back to Turkey under the false pretext that it is a "safe country",

calling the deal as "reckless and illegal"<sup>67</sup>. Human Rights Watch have documented a wide range of border violence on the EU-Turkish borders<sup>68</sup>.

In a study conducted with migrant informal groups in Şanlıurfa, Turkish border town to Syria, Mencutek finds out that community-based initiatives, particularly those initiated by Syrians with socio-economic capital often informally, operate mainly within spaces invited by state agencies and international donors, contributing to the survival and coping mechanisms of refugees<sup>69</sup>. Refugee communities can establish their own organizations in Turkey under certain conditions (at least 7 founding members who have legal status), as the law treats some refugees as nationals. In this regard, the Refugees Association in Turkey, a national NGO that seeks solutions to the problems of displaced communities, provides legal assistance to refugee communities wishing to establish NGOs<sup>70</sup>.

*Hayata Destek* (Supporttolife) is an influential national NGO in Turkey supporting refugees across Turkey as well as on border crossings to ensure refugees have access to basic rights and social services, including providing community-based protection though community centers.

A group of refugees in Tripoli, Lebanon, established their own initiative in 2015 called *SHiFT Social Innovation Hub*, initially in response to the lack of international organizations in the city. The organization started rehabilitating and restoring destroyed community centers in the city where impacted refugees, children and woman, could access to safe spaces<sup>71</sup>. Another example is *Makani*, a refugee-led organization established to assist refugee women to find "freedom and confidence through art and opportunities" in Lebanon, creating safe zones for women in overcoming traumas.

ACHRights (Wosol), a Syrian refugee-led association in Lebanon, focuses in monitoring the human rights situation of refugees, aiming to raise awareness and international advocacy to ensure the right to human dignity in countries of asylum<sup>72</sup>.

In Lebanon, the legal conditions for refugees to establish NGOs are more difficult than in Turkey. Although the NGOs must be represented by Lebanese citizens before the law, some of refugee-led groups and initiatives are officially register their organizations to become approved NGOs in Lebanon<sup>73</sup>. Basmeh and Zeitooneh<sup>74</sup>, Sawa for Development<sup>75</sup> and Aid, and Multi Aid Programs (MAPS)<sup>76</sup> are some of the refugee-led organizations established in Lebanon to protect and empower affected communities.

Given that non-Jordanians must obtain a special prime ministerial permit to establish a civil society organization<sup>77</sup>, leading refugee groups to establish often individual and informal initiatives that could be targeted and criminalized under the pretext of security concerns. *Youth for Peace Imitative*<sup>78</sup>, led by refugee youth, *Athar Platform*<sup>79</sup>, built by a group of Syrian refugees, *Amqa*, a social organization named after Palestinian town, *the Committee of Palestinians displaced from Syria* are some of the informal refugee-led organizations committed to responding the needs of affected communities in Jordan.

Refugee communities in Jordan, predominantly Syrian and Palestinian refugees, have tended to cooperate with international NGOs for refugee response due to limited opportunities for advocacy through civil society activities.

## **CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES**

Non-state actors and community-based organizations in the Middle East face significant challenges, including inadequate resources, security concerns, and political constraints. However, they also present opportunities for different approaches to migration management and support. By working closely with the communities they serve, they are able to gain a more nuanced understanding of the issues at stake and develop tailored responses to the cultural and social dynamics of the region.

Furthermore, more sustainable and inclusive solutions can be achieved by involving local actors in addressing migration and border issues. Their insights and expertise can be leveraged to have a greater impact on policy advocacy, service provision, and community resilience.

In conclusion, non-state actors and community-based organizations in the Middle East play a crucial role in addressing the complex migration dynamics and border issues in the region. Their efforts contribute to a multifaceted response to migration challenges, complementing and sometimes challenging state-led approaches. Understanding and supporting these actors can increase the effectiveness and sustainability of migration management and support strategies in the Middle East.

## Concluding Remarks

The Middle East is experiencing complex migratory dynamics characterized by forced displacement, environmental degradation and changing demographics. The region holds the highest density of forcibly displaced individuals globally, with conflicts in Syria, Iraq, and Yemen driving unprecedented levels of migration. Environmental challenges, such as water scarcity, and climate-induced disasters, further exacerbate the conditions, leading to additional conflicts and thus internal displacements. The demographic landscape of refugees, particularly in neighboring countries like Turkey, Lebanon, and Jordan, presents a diverse picture, reflecting varying family structures and gender imbalances. These feature the complex relationship of geopolitical, environmental, and demographic factors in shaping migration trends in the Middle East.

Furthermore, the responses to these migration flows are multidimensional, involving a range of actors, such the EU and the UN, from international organizations to local communities. The shift from initial humanitarian-based approach and policy of openness to more preventive approaches by host countries indicates a multifaceted adaptive response to continued crises. The involvement of the European Union, particularly through agreements like the EU-Turkey deal, underscores the international dimension of the refugee crisis, with implications for border management and migration policies beyond the Middle East. Community-based organizations and non-state actors emerge as critical yet often underrecognized players in this landscape, offering grassroots support and advocacy in the face of limited formal recognition and challenging political environments. These conclusions underscore the need for comprehensive, multi-level policies that recognize the roles of various stakeholders in addressing the migration challenges in the Middle East.

## **Endnotes**

<sup>1</sup> UNHCR Global Appeal Report (2024). <a href="https://reporting.unhcr.org/global-appeal-2024-6383">https://reporting.unhcr.org/global-appeal-2024-6383</a>

<sup>3</sup> UNHCR Syria Situation (2023). <a href="https://reporting.unhcr.org/operational/situations/syria-situation">https://reporting.unhcr.org/operational/situations/syria-situation</a>

<sup>4</sup> UNHCR Global Appeal Report (2024).

<sup>5</sup> Refugees Association. Number of Syrian in Turkey February 2024

(https://multeciler.org.tr/turkiyedeki-suriyeli-sayisi/)

<sup>6</sup> Presidency of Migration Management. Temporary Protection

(https://www.goc.gov.tr/gecici-koruma5638)

<sup>7</sup> UNHCR Jordan (<a href="https://www.unhcr.org/countries/jordan">https://www.unhcr.org/countries/jordan</a>)

<sup>8</sup> UNHCR Lebanon (<u>https://www.unhcr.org/lb/at-a</u>

 $\frac{glance\#: \tilde{}:}{text} = Lebanon\%20 remains\%20 the\%20 country\%20 hosting,11\%2C645\%20 refugees\%20 of\%20 other\%20 nationalities.)$ 

<sup>9</sup> UNHCR Iraq. (https://www.unhcr.org/countries/iraq)

<sup>10</sup> UNHCR Yemen. (https://www.unhcr.org/countries/yemen)

<sup>11</sup> UNRWA (https://www.unrwa.org/palestine-refugees)

<sup>12</sup> Al Jazeera. Israel On Gaza: Live Updates (March

2024) <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/liveblog/2024/3/22/israels-war-on-gaza-live-the-choice-is-clear-a-2-state-solution">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/liveblog/2024/3/22/israels-war-on-gaza-live-the-choice-is-clear-a-2-state-solution</a>

<sup>13</sup> Internal Displacement Monitoring Center (IDMC) (<a href="https://story.internal-displacement.org/mena-2021/index.html#group-section-Displaced-by-disasters-HnI4E4o5eT">https://story.internal-displacement.org/mena-2021/index.html#group-section-Displaced-by-disasters-HnI4E4o5eT</a>)

<sup>14</sup> The IOM Global Data Displacement Tracking Matrix (September 2023)

 $(\underline{https://dtm.iom.int/reports/iraq-climate-induced-displacement-southern-iraq-1-15-september-}$ 

 $\underline{2023\#:^{\sim}:text=As\%20of\%2015\%20September\%202023,74\%25)\%20being\%20urban\%20locations)}$ 

<sup>15</sup> Lynch, March and Brand, Laurie (March 2017). Refugees and Displacement in the Middle East. *Carnegie Endowment for International* 

*Peace* (https://carnegieendowment.org/2017/03/29/refugees-and-displacement-in-middle-east-pub-68479)

16 Ibid.

<sup>17</sup> Diab, Lilian Jasmine and Jerjawi Anas (May

2022) <a href="https://reliefweb.int/report/yemen/displacement-yemen-overview-enar">https://reliefweb.int/report/yemen/displacement-yemen-overview-enar</a>

<sup>18</sup> Pew Research Center (October 2026)

(https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2016/10/18/conflicts-in-syria-iraq-and-yemen-lead-to-millions-of-displaced-migrants-in-the-middle-east-since-2005/)

19 Ibid.

<sup>20</sup> Yenilmez, Meltem İnce. "The Impact of Forced Migration in the Middle East: Syrian and Palestinian Refugees". PERCEPTIONS: Journal of International Affairs 22, n. 3 (Ocak 2017): 183–202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> UNHCR, Ibid.

<sup>21</sup> Antosh, Catherine R.,

 $(2016) \ \underline{https://commons.lib.jmu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1205\&context=honors20101} \\ 9$ 

- <sup>22</sup> Eaton, Tim et all <a href="https://www.chathamhouse.org/2019/06/conflict-economies-middle-east-and-north-africa/2-conflict-economies-national-level">https://www.chathamhouse.org/2019/06/conflict-economies-middle-east-and-north-africa/2-conflict-economies-national-level</a>
- <sup>23</sup> International Monetary Fund (September
- 2016) https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/006/2016/008/article-A001-en.xml <sup>24</sup> lbid.
- <sup>25</sup> Norman Kelsey (May 2023). Migration and Displacement in the Arab World Demands a More Equitable Response. *Carnegie Endowment for*

 $International (\underline{https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/05/03/migration-and-displacement-in-arab-world-demands-more-equitable-response-pub-89520)$ 

- $^{26}$  IOM, UN Migration  $\underline{\text{https://weblog.iom.int/worlds-congested-human-migration-routes-5-maps} \div :\text{text=Syrian} \% 20 \text{routes} \% 20 \text{have} \% 20 \text{lso} \% 20 \text{been,the} \% 20 \text{Congo} \% 20 \text{C} \% 20 \text{and} \% 20 \text{South} \% 20 \text{Sudan.}$
- <sup>27</sup> Council of European Union (January 2024) Migration Flows on the Eastern Mediterranean Route. (<a href="https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/eu-migration-policy/eastern-mediterranean-route/">https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/eu-migration-policy/eastern-mediterranean-route/</a>)
- <sup>28</sup> Council of the European Union

 $\underline{https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/eu-migration-policy/eastern-mediterranean-route/}$ 

<sup>29</sup> Healy, Claire. The Strength to Carry on (February 2019)

https://www.icmpd.org/content/download/52238/file/STRIVE%20-

%20FULL%20STUDY\_EN.pdf

<sup>30</sup> European Commission (January 2015)

(https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/el/MEMO 15 3261)

<sup>31</sup> European Commission (January 2015)

(https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/el/MEMO\_15\_3261)

<sup>32</sup> UNHCR. 2015 The Year of Europe's Refugee

Crisis <a href="https://www.unhcr.org/news/stories/2015-year-europes-refugee-crisis">https://www.unhcr.org/news/stories/2015-year-europes-refugee-crisis</a>

<sup>33</sup> UNODC. Global Study on Smuggling of Migrants

(2018) https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-

analysis/glosom/GLOSOM\_2018\_web\_small.pdf

34 Ibid.

- <sup>35</sup> Relief Web (October 2022) <a href="https://reliefweb.int/report/syrian-arab-republic/syria-unprecedented-rise-poverty-rate-significant-shortfall-humanitarian-aid-funding-enar">https://reliefweb.int/report/syrian-arab-republic/syria-unprecedented-rise-poverty-rate-significant-shortfall-humanitarian-aid-funding-enar</a>
- <sup>36</sup> Salhani, Justin. Aljazeera: Lebanon's Economic Crisis Endures (May
- 2024) <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2024/5/18/lebanons-economic-crisis-endures-as-does-the-eus-fear-of-refugees</u>
- <sup>37</sup> Diabe, Jasmine Lilian. Selective and Strategic indifference: Lebanon's migration and refugee landscapes <a href="https://mixedmigration.org/lebanon-migration-and-refugee-landscapes/">https://mixedmigration.org/lebanon-migration-and-refugee-landscapes/</a> <a href="https://mixedmigration.org/">https://mixedmigration.org/</a> <a href="https://mixe

https://comparativemigrationstudies.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40878-019-0159-x

<sup>39</sup> IOM. COVID-19, CLIMATE CHANGE AND MIGRATION: CONSTRUCTING CRISES, REINFORCING BORDERS

https://environmentalmigration.iom.int/blogs/covid-19-climate-change-and-migration-constructing-crises-reinforcing-borders

- <sup>40</sup> Irrum, Shahzadi. Migration through the Mediterranean: A Perilous Passage (February 2024) <a href="https://moderndiplomacy.eu/2024/02/18/migration-through-the-mediterranean-a-perilous-passage/">https://moderndiplomacy.eu/2024/02/18/migration-through-the-mediterranean-a-perilous-passage/</a>
- <sup>41</sup> CMPD. Migration Outlook
- $2024\ \underline{https://www.icmpd.org/file/download/60599/file/ICMPD\%2520Migration\%2520Outlook\%25202024.pdf}$
- <sup>42</sup> Şahin-Mencütek, Zeynep. (2020). Refugee Governance, State and Politics in the Middle East, Routledge Global Cooperation Series. p.342 ISBN 9780367664404
- <sup>43</sup> Daniel Meier (2018) Introduction to the Special Issue: Bordering the Middle East, Geopolitics, 23:3, 495-504, DOI: 10.1080/14650045.2018.1497375
- <sup>44</sup> Şahin-Mencutek, Zeynep. (2020). p.71.
- <sup>45</sup> Lebanese Centre for Human Rights (CLDH): Research Report (2023). European Politics of Border Externalization in Lebanon. Securitization of Migration Management and Systemic Human Rights Violations. (http://www.cldh-lebanon.org/HumanRightsBrie/d7b6f624-152a-4c1b-bb0b-

95302da0c1cb European%20Policies%20of%20Border%20Externalisation%20in%20Lebanon%20-%20CLDH%20Report%20%20-%20July%202023.pdf)

- 46 Ibid.
- <sup>47</sup> Troy Donovan, Alice (January 2022). Jordan: How the EU is using trade deals to curb migration. *Danish Institute for International Studies* (https://www.diis.dk/en/node/25402)
- <sup>48</sup> Kaya, Ayhan (Nov. 2023). The World's Leading Refugee Host, Turkey Has a Complex Migration History. *Migration Policy*

*Institute* (<a href="https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/turkey-migration-history">https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/turkey-migration-history</a>)

- <sup>49</sup> Şahin-Mencütek (2020) pp.161-162
- <sup>50</sup> Zaman, Amberin. (June 2023). Few Signs of Progress at Turkey-Syria Normalization Talks in Astana. Al Monitor. (<a href="https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2023/06/few-signs-progress-turkey-syria-normalization-talks-astana">https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2023/06/few-signs-progress-turkey-syria-normalization-talks-astana</a>)
- <sup>51</sup> Human Rights Watch. (Oct. 2024) Turkey: Hundreds of Refugees Deported to Syria. (https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/10/24/turkey-hundreds-refugees-deported-syria)
- <sup>52</sup> Fakhoury, Tamirace. (2017). "Governance Strategies and Refugee Response: Lebanon in the Face of Syrian Displacement." *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 49, no: 681–700. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26852594.
- <sup>53</sup> UNHCR Lebanon (https://www.unhcr.org/lb/at-a-glance)
- <sup>54</sup> Şahin-Mencutek. (2020), p.207
- <sup>55</sup>.Şahin-Mencutek, pp. 208-210.
- <sup>56</sup> UNHCR Operational Data Portal (May 2023)

(https://data.unhcr.org/en/documents/details/100389)

- <sup>57</sup>Fakhoury, Tamirace (2017). pp. 688-689
- 58Ibid.
- <sup>59</sup> Lebanese Centre for Human Rights (CLDH): Research Report (2023).
- 60 UNHCR Jordan (https://www.unhcr.org/jo/who-we-are)

61 Ibid.

<sup>63</sup> Ibid. p.278.

<sup>65</sup> Jordan Refugee Response (JRR).

<sup>66</sup> Stock, I., Üstübici, A. & Schultz, S.U. Externalization at work: responses to migration policies from the Global South. *CMS* 7, 48 (2019) p.4. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s40878-019-0157-z">https://doi.org/10.1186/s40878-019-0157-z</a>

<sup>67</sup> Amnesty International (June

2016). https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur44/3825/2016/en/, p.9

<sup>68</sup> Human Rights Watch. (Nov.2016) (<a href="https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/11/14/qa-why-euturkey-migration-deal-no-blueprint">https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/11/14/qa-why-euturkey-migration-deal-no-blueprint</a>)

<sup>69</sup> Sahin Mencutek, Zeynep. (2021) Refugee Community Organizations: Capabilities, Interactions and Limitations, *Third World Quarterly*. 42:1, 181-

199, DOI: <u>10.1080/01436597.2020.1791070</u>

<sup>70</sup> Refugees Association. <u>https://multeciler.org.tr/eng/</u>

<sup>71</sup> Alrustm, Hane and Kallas, Gabrielle (July 2023). The Transformative Impact of Refugee-led Organizations on Communities. Humanitarian Practice Network.

 $(\underline{https://odihpn.org/publication/the-transformative-impact-of-refugee-led-organisations-on-communities/})$ 

<sup>72</sup> Oroub El Abed, et.al. (2023).

<sup>73</sup> Ibid.

<sup>74</sup> Ibid.

<sup>76</sup> https://multiaidprograms.org/

<sup>77</sup> Jordanian Law on Societies Article 8 prohibits non-Jordanian to establish associations.

<sup>78</sup> https://unoy.org/

<sup>79</sup> https://www.atharplatform.com/

<sup>62</sup> Şahin-Mencütek (2020), p.277-278.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Jordan Refugee Response Inter-Agency Coordination Briefing Kit. Reviewed by ISWG in February 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> https://www.sawafordev.org/who-we-are

## Bibliography

Al Jazeera. 2024. "Israel On Gaza: Live Updates." March 22, 2024.

https://www.aljazeera.com/news/liveblog/2024/3/22/israels-war-on-gaza-live-the-choice-is-clear-a-2-state-solution.

Alrustm, Hane, and Gabrielle Kallas. 2023. "The Transformative Impact of Refugee-led Organizations on Communities." *Humanitarian Practice Network*, July 2023. <a href="https://odihpn.org/publication/the-transformative-impact-of-refugee-led-organisations-on-communities/">https://odihpn.org/publication/the-transformative-impact-of-refugee-led-organisations-on-communities/</a>.

Amnesty International. 2016. "Turkey: No Safe Refuge - Asylum Seekers and Refugees Denied Effective Protection in Turkey." June 2016.

https://www.amnestv.org/en/documents/eur44/3825/2016/en/.

Antosh, Catherine R. 2016. "Honors Program Projects: Cultural Identity and the Syrian Refugee Crisis." James Madison University.

https://commons.lib.jmu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1205&context=honors201019.

Council of the European Union. 2024. "Migration Flows on the Eastern Mediterranean Route." January 2024. <a href="https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/eu-migration-policy/eastern-mediterranean-route/">https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/eu-migration-policy/eastern-mediterranean-route/</a>.

Diab, Lilian Jasmine, and Anas Jerjawi. 2022. "Displacement in Yemen: An Overview." *ReliefWeb*, May 2022. <a href="https://reliefweb.int/report/yemen/displacement-yemen-overview-enar">https://reliefweb.int/report/yemen/displacement-yemen-overview-enar</a>.

Diabe, Jasmine Lilian. "Selective and Strategic Indifference: Lebanon's Migration and Refugee Landscapes." Mixed Migration Centre. <a href="https://mixedmigration.org/lebanon-migration-and-refugee-landscapes/">https://mixedmigration.org/lebanon-migration-and-refugee-landscapes/</a>.

Eaton, Tim, et al. 2019. "Conflict Economies in the Middle East and North Africa." Chatham House. <a href="https://www.chathamhouse.org/2019/06/conflict-economies-middle-east-and-north-africa/2-conflict-economies-national-level">https://www.chathamhouse.org/2019/06/conflict-economies-middle-east-and-north-africa/2-conflict-economies-national-level</a>.

European Commission. 2015. "European Commission Press Release: European Agenda on Migration." January 2015.

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/el/MEMO\_15\_3261.

Fakhoury, Tamirace. 2017. "Governance Strategies and Refugee Response: Lebanon in the Face of Syrian Displacement." *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 49 (4): 681–700. <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/26852594">https://www.jstor.org/stable/26852594</a>.

Healy, Claire. 2019. "The Strength to Carry On." International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICMPD), February 2019.

https://www.icmpd.org/content/download/52238/file/STRIVE%20-%20FULL%20STUDY\_EN.pdf.

Human Rights Watch. 2024. "Turkey: Hundreds of Refugees Deported to Syria." *Human Rights Watch*, October 2024. <a href="https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/10/24/turkey-hundreds-refugees-deported-syria">https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/10/24/turkey-hundreds-refugees-deported-syria</a>.

Internal Displacement Monitoring Center (IDMC). 2021. "Global Report on Internal Displacement: Middle East and North Africa." <a href="https://story.internal-displacement.org/mena-2021/index.html#group-section-Displaced-by-disasters-HnI4E4o5eT">https://story.internal-displacement.org/mena-2021/index.html#group-section-Displaced-by-disasters-HnI4E4o5eT</a>.

International Monetary Fund. 2016. "Economic Outlook for the Middle East and Central Asia." September 2016. <a href="https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/006/2016/008/article-A001-en.xml">https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/006/2016/008/article-A001-en.xml</a>.

IOM. 2023. "COVID-19, Climate Change, and Migration: Constructing Crises, Reinforcing Borders." International Organization for Migration.

https://environmentalmigration.iom.int/blogs/covid-19-climate-change-and-migration-constructing-crises-reinforcing-borders.

Lebanese Centre for Human Rights (CLDH). 2023. "European Politics of Border Externalization in Lebanon: Securitization of Migration Management and Systemic Human Rights Violations." July 2023. <a href="http://www.cldh-lebanon.org/HumanRightsBrie/d7b6f624-152a-4c1b-bb0b">http://www.cldh-lebanon.org/HumanRightsBrie/d7b6f624-152a-4c1b-bb0b</a>-

 $\underline{95302da0c1cb\_European\%20Policies\%20of\%20Border\%20Externalisation\%20in\%20Lebanon\%20-\%20CLDH\%20Report\%20\%20-\%20July\%202023.pdf.$ 

Lynch, Marc, and Laurie Brand. 2017. "Refugees and Displacement in the Middle East." *Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*, March 2017.

https://carnegieendowment.org/2017/03/29/refugees-and-displacement-in-middle-east-pub-68479.

Norman, Kelsey. 2023. "Migration and Displacement in the Arab World Demands a More Equitable Response." *Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*, May 2023. <a href="https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/05/03/migration-and-displacement-in-arab-world-demands-more-equitable-response-pub-89520">https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/05/03/migration-and-displacement-in-arab-world-demands-more-equitable-response-pub-89520</a>.

Refugees Association. 2024. "Number of Syrian Refugees in Turkey." February 2024. <a href="https://multeciler.org.tr/turkiyedeki-suriyeli-sayisi/">https://multeciler.org.tr/turkiyedeki-suriyeli-sayisi/</a>.

ReliefWeb. 2022. "Syria: Unprecedented Rise in Poverty Rate and Significant Shortfall in Humanitarian Aid Funding." *ReliefWeb*, October 2022. <a href="https://reliefweb.int/report/syrian-arab-republic/syria-unprecedented-rise-poverty-rate-significant-shortfall-humanitarian-aid-funding-enar">https://reliefweb.int/report/syrian-arab-republic/syria-unprecedented-rise-poverty-rate-significant-shortfall-humanitarian-aid-funding-enar</a>.

Sahin Mencutek, Zeynep. 2021. "Refugee Community Organizations: Capabilities, Interactions, and Limitations." *Third World Quarterly* 42 (1): 181-199. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2020.1791070.

Sahin Mencutek, Zeynep. 2020. *Refugee Governance, State and Politics in the Middle East.* Routledge Global Cooperation Series. ISBN 9780367664404.

Salhani, Justin. 2024. "Lebanon's Economic Crisis Endures as Does the EU's Fear of Refugees." *Al Jazeera*, May 18, 2024. <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2024/5/18/lebanons-economic-crisis-endures-as-does-the-eus-fear-of-refugees">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2024/5/18/lebanons-economic-crisis-endures-as-does-the-eus-fear-of-refugees</a>.

Şahin-Mencütek, Zeynep. 2020. "The Impact of Externalized Migration Governance on Turkey: Technocratic Migration Governance and the Production of Differentiated Legal Status." *Comparative Migration Studies*.

https://comparativemigrationstudies.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40878-019-0159-x.

Stock, Inka, Ayşen Üstübici, and Sabine U. Schultz. 2019. "Externalization at Work: Responses to Migration Policies from the Global South." *Comparative Migration Studies* 7 (48). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s40878-019-0157-z">https://doi.org/10.1186/s40878-019-0157-z</a>.

Troy Donovan, Alice. 2022. "Jordan: How the EU is Using Trade Deals to Curb Migration." *Danish Institute for International Studies*, January 2022. https://www.diis.dk/en/node/25402.

Üstübici, Ayşen. "The Impact of Externalized Migration Governance on Turkey: Technocratic Migration Governance and the Production of Differentiated Legal Status." *Comparative Migration Studies*.

https://comparativemigrationstudies.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40878-019-0159-x.

UNHCR Global Appeal Report. 2024. <a href="https://reporting.unhcr.org/global-appeal-2024-6383">https://reporting.unhcr.org/global-appeal-2024-6383</a>.

UNHCR Iraq. <a href="https://www.unhcr.org/countries/iraq">https://www.unhcr.org/countries/iraq</a>.

UNHCR Jordan. 2023. <a href="https://www.unhcr.org/countries/jordan">https://www.unhcr.org/countries/jordan</a>.

UNHCR Lebanon. https://www.unhcr.org/lb/at-a-

glance#:~:text=Lebanon%20remains%20the%20country%20hosting11%2C645%20refugees%20 of%20other%20nationalities.

UNHCR Operational Data Portal. 2023.

https://data.unhcr.org/en/documents/details/100389.

UNHCR Syria Situation. 2023. <a href="https://reporting.unhcr.org/operational/situations/syria-situation">https://reporting.unhcr.org/operational/situations/syria-situation</a>.

UNHCR Yemen. <a href="https://www.unhcr.org/countries/yemen">https://www.unhcr.org/countries/yemen</a>.

UNODC. 2018. *Global Study on Smuggling of Migrants*. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. <a href="https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/glosom/GLOSOM\_2018\_web\_small.pdf">https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/glosom/GLOSOM\_2018\_web\_small.pdf</a>.

UNRWA. <a href="https://www.unrwa.org/palestine-refugees">https://www.unrwa.org/palestine-refugees</a>.

Zaman, Amberin. 2023. "Few Signs of Progress at Turkey-Syria Normalization Talks in Astana." \*Al Monitor